DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 22-CV-298



Clerk of the Court Received 07/27/2022 03:45 PM Resubmitted 07/27/2022 03:53 PM

JOSE\$PH MANCUSO, et al.

Appellants

v.

CHAPEL VALLEY LANDSCAPE COMPANY, et al.

Appellees

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

Frederic W. Schwartz, Jr. 1701 Pennsylvania Ave., NW Suite 200 Washington, DC 20006 (202) 463-0880 197137 FWS888@aol.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Should the centuries old Collateral Source Rule be abrogated because the collateral source had a contractual or Common Law right of subordination?

2. Does an injured party lose his or her right to sue the tort feasor for damages in excess of those reimbursed by a collateral source if the collateral source had a contractual or Common Law right of subordination?

3. Does an injured party have the right to reasonably mitigate damages without the mitigation being a superceding cause freeing the tortfeasors from liability?

4. The Office of Administrative Appeals granted a joint motion to dismiss the tortfeasors' appeal of DCRA Notices of Infraction prior to a determination on the merits. Does the dismissal prior to a determination on the merits preclude the introduction of the Notices of Infraction in a suit by the injured party against the tortfeasors?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL CONTEXT

This Statement of Facts is adopted primarily from those set out by the Superior Court as germane in several of her Orders. Mr. And Mrs. Mancuso (Appellants) are confident that Chapel Valley Landscape and Grunley Construction (Appellees) will identify in their brief any minor inaccuracies and

1

add additional facts that they believe are necessary. Corrections to the Appellees' rendition, if necessary, will be set out in Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso's Reply Brief.

This appeal arises out of the collapse of a three-story parking garage at the Watergate Complex in Washington, D.C. on May 1, 2015. Grunley was the general contract for the renovation of the Hotel and grounds at the Watergate Complex and Chapel Valley was the landscaping subcontractor. Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso reside at 2150 Virginia Avenue NW, Washington, D.C. 20037, which is an apartment building within the Watergate Complex. They parked their automobile on the bottom floor of the parking garage and had some personalty in the garage space as well.

Following the collapse the District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA) retained an Engineer to determine whether any District of Columbia regulations had been violated. The Engineer determined that both Grunley and Chapel Valley had violated DC regulations. Consequently DCRA issued Notices of Infractions in this regard against both Grunley and Chapel Valley with associated fines. Both Chapel Valley and Grunley filed appeals with the D.C. Office of Administrative Appeals. Prior to the hearing the parties agreed to dismiss the appeal "because they have settled all issues." There was no hearing or dismissal "on the merits."

2

Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso had filed a claim with Progressive Insurance Company, their automobile vehicle carrier, folowing their collapse. Progressive was less generous than its commercials would suggest and Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso recovered \$ 28,800.97 on their claim after a \$1,000 deductible (later slightly reduced) and the denial of some minor claimed damages. App. 100

Mr. and Mrs Mancuso then filed suit in the Superior Court against Grunley and Chapel Valley as they were entitled to do under the Collateral Source Rule. Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso filed their Complaint on March 15, 2018, alleging one count of negligence against all parties. App. 39 They requested damages for the destruction of their vehicle (\$29,097.04), reduction in the size of their parking space (\$15,000), reimbursement for a rental vehicle (\$978.17), loss of golf clubs and equipment destroyed in vehicle (\$2,147.98), loss of miscellaneous personal property destroyed in the vehicle (\$611.93), and loss of personal property destroyed in the parking space (134.35).¹ App.44

Unbeknownst to Mr. And Mrs Mancuso (and the Superior Court) until approximately three years after Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso filed suit Progressive had

¹Following the dismissal of their claim for the reduction in the size of their parking space Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso were advised that they had used the incorrect measure of their loss. They did not seek to amend their Complaint as the issue was moot until and if this Court restores that claim. *See* discussion below.

prior to suit being filed utilized some non-specific policy language or the Common Law to exercise subrogation rights against Grunley and Chapel Valley.² Grunley prevailed in an insurance company arbitration and Progressive settled for a recovery (This ruling will be discussed below.)

Finally, in an Order issued on March 22, 2022 the Superior Court concluded that the language which it had not previously considered a subrogation clause was in fact a subrogation clause which stripped Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso of any right to sue either Chapel Valley or Grunley. App. 19, *et seq*.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Superior Court was in error when it ruled that a subrogation clause in Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso's insurance policy transferred all rights to the chose in action to the carrier and barred Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso from suing the tortfeasors despite the Collateral Source Rule. The Superior Court was also in error when it ruled that a joint motion to dismiss the Department of Consumer Affairs Notices of Infraction protected the tortfeasors from the introduction of the DCRA findings at trial even though there was no hearing or determination on the merits. Finally,

² In its Answer Grunley set out a smorgasbord of 15 affirmative defenses, many of which were inapposite, which included arbitration and award without further explanation. App. 50 In its Answer Chapel Valley set out 22 defenses, many of which were inapposite, including "payment" and "release" without further explanation. App. 59 These defenses ran against Progressive and not Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso as will be discussed below.

the Superior Court was in error when it ruled that the reasonable reconstruction of the parking garage was a superceding cause of Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso's injuries relating to the reduction in size of their parking space thus freeing the tortfeasors from liability for causing its collapse.

ARGUMENT'

I. Standard of Review

As this Court recently put it in Radbod v. Moghim, 269 A.3d 1035, 1041

(D.C. 2022):

Our review of the Superior Court's order granting summary judgment is *de novo. Zere v. District of Columbia*, 209 A.3d 94, 98 (D.C. 2019). We apply the same standard the Superior Court was required to apply in considering whether the motion for summary judgment should be granted. *Kuder v. United Nat. Bank*, 497 A.2d 1105, 1106-07 (D.C. 1985). We view the evidentiary materials in the record, including any depositions, documents, electronically stored information, affidavits, declarations, admissions, and interrogatory responses, in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and draw all reasonable inferences in that party's favor. *Liu v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 179 A.3d 871, 876 (D.C. 2018); Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(c). Summary judgment is properly granted only if the record contains no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Liu*, 179 A.3d at 876; Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(a).

To the extent that a ruling is based on both fact and law, this Court "treat the

relevant factual findings as presumptively correct unless they are clearly erroneous

or without foundation in the record, [and] "we review de novo the trial court's

ultimate holding." (Finding that a contract was unconscionable.) Simon v. Smith,

273 A.3d 321, 331 (D.C. 2022)

II. The Superior Court erred when it granted Summary Judgment to Grunley and Chapel Valley and entered Judgment for them.

On March 22, 2022, the Superior Court reversed its prior holding and granted the motion for summary judgment of Grunley and Chapel Valley.³ App.

App. 19, et seq.

The erroneous nature of the ruling will be discussed in full below, but first a review of the relevant legal principles will be helpful.

A. The Collateral Source Rule: A Rule of Evidence and a Rule of Damages.

The Collateral Source Rule is a long standing Common Law rule of evidence and damages applied in suits where the plaintiff has recovered (or will recover) part or all of his or her damages from most unrelated collateral sources.⁴ The principal as to insured losses was set out in *Monticello v. Mollisonn* 58 U.S.

³ While this final and dispositive Superior Court ruling was the third in time it is addressed first. If, *arguendo*, this Court determines that this final summary judgment ruling was not error, the prior erroneous rulings by the Superior Court become moot and can be dealt with by dropping a footnote about as long as this one stating so.

⁴ Jurisdictions have whittled around the edge of collateral sources which fall under the Rule depending on the influence of insurance carriers with legislature and regulatory bodies. For example, in the District of Columbia Medicare and private insurance payments fall under the Rule while Medicaid payments do not. *District of Columbia v. Jackson*, 451 A.2d 867, 871 (D.C. 1982) and decisions it cites. Other jurisdictions have excluded expenses which were "written off," but not the District. *Hardi v. Mezzanotte*, 818 A.2d 974, 984 (D.C. 2003) None of the digressions from the Collateral Source Rule are implicated in this appeal.

152, 155 (1854), an admiralty collision decision, which described "the doctrine

[as] well established at common law." The Restatement (Second) of Torts puts it this way:

§ 920A Effect of Payments Made to Injured Party

(1) A payment made by a tortfeasor or by a person acting for him to a person whom he has injured is credited against his tort liability, as are payments made by another who is, or believes he is, subject to the same tort liability.

(2) Payments made to or benefits conferred on the injured party from other sources are not credited against the tortfeasor's liability, although they cover all or a part of the harm for which the tortfeasor is liable.

COMMENTS & ILLUSTRATIONS

Comment:

* * * * *

Benefits from collateral sources. Payments made or benefits conferred by other sources are known as collateral-source benefits. They do not have the effect of reducing the recovery against the defendant. The injured party's net loss may have been reduced correspondingly, and to the extent that the defendant is required to pay the total amount there may be a double compensation for a part of the plaintiff's injury. But it is the position of the law that a benefit that is directed to the injured party should not be shifted so as to become a windfall for the tortfeasor. If the plaintiff was himself responsible for the benefit, as by maintaining his own insurance or by making advantageous employment arrangements, the law allows him to keep it for himself. If the benefit was a gift to the plaintiff from a third party or established for him by law, he should not be deprived of the advantage that it confers. The law does not differentiate between the nature of the benefits, so long as they did not come from the defendant or a person acting for him. One way of stating this conclusion is to say that it is the tortfeasor's responsibility to compensate for all harm that he causes, not confined to the

net loss that the injured party receives. Compare § 924, Comment c (recovery for harm to earning capacity though plaintiff was on vacation), § 914A (recovery for damage to earning capacity ordinarily not reduced by amount of income tax that was not imposed).

Perhaps there is an element of punishment of the wrongdoer involved. (See \S 901). Perhaps also this is regarded as a means of helping to make the compensation more nearly compensatory to the injured party. (Cf. \S 914A, Comment b).

District of Columbia law, in this Court and in the D.C. Circuit, adheres to

this view. As the Court said in Jacobs v. H. L. Rust Co., 353 A.2d 6, 7 (D.C.

1976), the decision generally cited for the proposition:

The collateral source rule provides that when a tort plaintiff's items of damage are reimbursed by a third party who is independent of the wrongdoer, the plaintiff may still seek full compensation from the tortfeasor even though the effect may be a double recovery. RESTATEMENT OF TORTS, § 920, comment e (1939). The rationale of this principle is that: [in] general the law seeks to award compensation, and no more, for personal injuries negligently inflicted. Yet an injured person may usually recover in full from a wrongdoer regardless of anything he may get from a "collateral source" unconnected with the wrongdoer. Usually the collateral contribution necessarily benefits either the injured person or the wrongdoer. Whether it is a gift or the product of a contract of employment or of insurance, the purposes of the parties to it are obviously better served and the interests of society are likely to be better served if the injured person is benefitted than if the wrongdoer is benefitted. Legal "compensation" for personal injuries does not actually compensate. Not many people would sell an arm for the average or even the maximum amount that juries award for loss of an arm. Moreover the injured person seldom gets the compensation he "recovers", for a substantial attorney's fee usually comes out of it. There is a limit to what a negligent wrongdoer can fairly, i.e., consistently with the balance of individual and social interests, be required to pay. But it is not necessarily reduced by the injured person's getting money or care from a collateral

source. Hudson v. Lazarus, 217 F.2d 344, 346 (1954).]

Thus, the receipt of payment from a collateral source may not be injected into a trial to mitigate damages or in any manner which would mislead, improperly influence or prejudice the jury. *Eichel v. New York Central Railroad Co.*, 375 U.S. 253, 84 S. Ct. 316, 11 L. Ed. 2d 307 (1963); *Tipton v. Socony Mobil Oil Co., Inc.*, 375 U.S. 34, 84 S. Ct. 1, 11 L. Ed. 2d 4 (1963); *Ridilla v. Kerns*, D.C.Mun.App., 155 A.2d 517 (1959); *LaMade v. Wilson*, 512 F.2d 1348 (1975).

See also District of Columbia v. Jackson. supra at 871: Ceco Corp v. Maloney.

404 A.2d 935 (D.C. 1979)

B. Subrogation

As the Superior Court pointed out, and as this Court has held,

"[s]ubrogation simply means substitution of one person for another; that is, one person is allowed to stand in the shoes of another and assert that person's rights against the defendant. *HSBC Bank USA, N.A. v. Mendoza,* 11 A.3d 229, 232 n.4 (D.C. 2010) (quoting DAN B. DOBBS, LAW OF REMEDIES § 4.3, at 404 (2d ed. 1993))." It exists in a number of contexts where one party lays out money for the benefit of another party.

Insurance carriers having to satisfy the claims of their insured have come to believe that if there is to be a double recovery it belonged to them and not to the injured insured who sues or settles as discussed below. Since carriers tend to travel in packs they tend to utilize essentially the same subrogation contractual language in their policies as discussed below. In addition there exists an equitable Common Law right to obtain funds paid out to the insured (minus attorney fees and other offsets) in an independent action by the insured. For a somewhat convoluted view, described by the Court as "procedural threads becom[ing] rather tangled," consider *Travelers Ins. Co. v. Haden*, 418 A.2d 1078, 1080 (D.C. 1980).

C. Circumstances of this appeal.

The Progressive policy which Mr. And Mrs. Mancuso had provided in part:

OUR RIGHTS TO RECOVER PAYMENTS

We are entitled to the rights of recovery that the insured person to whom payment was made has against another, to the extent of **our** payment. That insured person may be required to sign documents related to the recovery and must do whatever else we require to help **us** exercise those recovery rights, and do nothing after an accident or loss to prejudice those rights. (Emphasis in original) App. 85

This is a notice of a right to subrogation although that term is not specifically

used. In this case it established a right of recovery/cause of action initiated by

Progressive and required the cooperation of Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso as necessary.

Since it is part of the Progressive policy it is a contractual term.

The Progressive policy also provided:

When an insured person has been paid by **us** and also recovers from another, the amount recovered will be held by the insured person in trust for **us** and reimbursed to **us** to the extent of **our** payment. If **we** are not reimbursed **we** *may* pursue recovery of that amount directly against that insured person. "Our Right To Recover Payment," App. 85 This is not a subrogation clause. It is a contractual clause. It presupposes a successful recovery by Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso through suit, settlement or other means and the retention by them of that part of the recovery representing the amount in excess of the amount Progressive had paid out. The contractual language did not require Progressive's permission for the Mancuso's to file suit nor did it suggest or require a role for Progressive in the suit.

Nothing barred Mr. And Mrs. Mancuso from paying that sum into the Court's registry or counsel's escrow account and challenging the amount, if any, to be reimbursed on any numbers of grounds such as insurance malfeasance. Progressive anticipated such circumstances as it reserved in the last sentence the right to sue for that amount or not. Further, nothing in the provision barred Mr. And Mrs . Mancusos from retaining any amount in excess of the amount paid out in reimbursement to Progressive.

The Defendants' first motion for summary judgment claimed that the second clause was a subrogation clause. App.85 The Superior Court initially found it was not based on the language of the provision. App. 36 The Superior Court was correct. This clause did not allow Progressive to step into the shoes of Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso and pursue a recovery in their stead. Rather it presupposed, but did not require, that Mr. and Mrs Mancuso would sue (as they did) and contractually set out how the recovery would be divided among them.

D. The Superior Court erroneously reversed its prior decision.

In its prior Order, as noted above, the Superior Court found that the Policy Agreement between Plaintiffs and Progressive did not act to "prohibit the insured person from seeking damages on their own. The only restriction placed on the insured person is that if the insured person recovers damages, the insured person is liable to Progressive to reimburse the amount Progressive disbursed in relation to the case." App. 37 In subsequently contradicting itself, the Superior Court made the following errors.

Error No. 1. In so ruling, the Superior Court considered the contract between Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso and Progressive to be before it even though Progressive had not been third-partied in nor had Progressive entered an appearance.

Error No. 2 The Superior Court next concluded that the contractual language was plain and that it could determine in the event of a subsequent proceeding that Progressive would required Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso to pay over to it whatever they recovered. In the Superior Court's view (without considering or even seeking Progressive's view) this included any additional amount in excess of the amount Progressive had paid them without deducting, for example, the amount Progressive had received from Chapel Valley in settlement or any of the other set

offs.⁵ The subordination recovery was limited to making Progressive whole. The Superior Court's ruling deprived Mr. And Mrs. Mancuso of these entitlements. **Error No. 3** Sensing the thin ice in her position, the Superior Court then created a remarkable new legal principal. The Superior Court concluded that if Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso were subrogated to Progressive, and, *arguendo*, Progressive had already exercised its right of subrogation, Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso also lost their right to sue and recover any damages from Grunley and Chapel Valley regardless of whether or not the amount exceeded the amount Progressive could have recovered under its right of subrogation.

Error No. 4 At best the Superior Court confused subrogation with assignment. One can "assign" a chose in action--even if prohibited by an insurance policy–giving the assignee all rights to and in the chose in action. *Antal's Restaurant v. Lumbermen's Mut. Cas. Co.*, 680 A.2d 1386 D.C. 1996) Subrogation is not an assignment, however, as discussed above. It gives the holder of the right of subrogation the right to seek to recover what it paid out after adjustments and not a penny more. It is not a right to the chose in action itself and is not an exclusive right to sue.

⁵ While this excess amount was approximately \$9,000.00 it would be substantially increased if the claim relating to Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso's garage space is restored as discussed below and after Mr. and Mrs. Mancuso's costs of litigation was included..

If the Superior Court was correct there would be no need for the Collateral Source Rule since the injured party, as subrogatee, would have no right to sue the tortfeasor since that exclusive right had been transferred to the subrogator by contract or Common Law. The conclusion advanced and articulated by the Superior Court was that injured parties had no right to sue a tortfeasor for any damages collaterally reimbursed or not because he or she had no right to be in court in the first place.

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