Appeal No. 22-CV-298



JOSEPH MANCUSO, et al.,

Clerk of the Court Received 09/06/2022 01:18 PM Filed 09/06/2022 01:18 PM

Appellants,

v.

CHAPEL VALLEY LANDSCAPE COMPANY, et al.,

Appellees.

#### JOINT BRIEF OF APPELLEES CHAPEL VALLEY LANDSCAPE COMPANY, AND GRUNLEY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.

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

It is well-settled that the measure of damages for injury to property is repair costs if the property can be restored, or loss of fair market value if the property cannot be restored. *Wentworth v. Air Line Pilots Ass 'n*, 336 A.2d 542, 543-44 (D.C. 1975). This Court has stated that while it is true "[t]he owner of . . . land . . . is generally held to be qualified to express his opinion of its value merely by virtue of his ownership," the owner may "not testify as to the link between any alleged actions of the Defendants and the change in value," where the "link" requires specialized knowledge or experience. *Lowrey*, 908 A.2d at 37 (citations omitted); *see Johnston v. Hundley*, 987 A.2d 1123, 1130 n.11 (D.C. 2010) (explaining that, "where a special expertise is required to estimate the value, testimony respecting the owner's opinion, without more, does not provide an adequate basis for a reasonable estimate of value.") (citation omitted) (cleaned up).

In *Lowrey*, the plaintiff claimed his property lost value because the neighboring veterinary clinic reconfigured its parking lot such that it "increased the level of noise, pollution, and physical disturbance around his home, thereby creating a private nuisance." *Id.* at 32. This Court held that the plaintiff was not qualified to testify on the subject of nuisance, which requires specialized knowledge. *Id.* at 37. Therefore, the Court affirmed the entry of summary judgment in favor of the defendants based on the plaintiff's failure to identify appraisal and engineering experts, among others. *Id.* 

The Mancusos claim that the reduced size of their parking space is worth \$15,000. App. 44. The Mancusos make no assertion that property could be or should be restored, which necessarily means that recovery for these damages would have to be based on actual loss of market value. *Wentworth, supra*, 336 A.2d at 543-44. In order for the Mancusos to prove that they suffered harm as a result of having a

smaller parking space, they would need to present admissible evidence of the value of the parking space pre- and post-collapse. Here, as in *Lowrey*, the link between the Contractors' actions and the alleged diminution in value requires expert testimony. The Mancusos themselves, though, do not have the requisite specialized knowledge or skill in parking garage reconstruction, structural engineering, property management, real property appraisal, or any other relevant field to testify as to such loss of value. *See Johnston, supra*, 987 A.2d at 1130 n.11; *see also Romer v. D.C.*, 449 A.2d 1097, 1100 (D.C. 1982) (stating that while "damages are not required to be prove with mathematical certainty, there must be some reasonable basis on which to estimate damages") (citations omitted).

Accordingly, while the trial court did not factor this issue into its summary judgment ruling, *see* App. 35 at Footnote 1, it provides another basis for this Court affirming the trial court's ruling. *See Wagner v. Georgetown Univ. Med. Ctr.*, 768 A.2d 546, 559-60 (D.C. 2001) (stating that an "appellate court has discretion to uphold a summary judgment under a legal theory different from that applied by the trial court, and rest affirmance on any ground that it finds support in the record....") (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). Even assuming that the trial court was wrong on the law regarding proximate causation, it would be fruitless to remand on this issue because Appellants do not have the requisite expert testimony or evidence to present this claim to a jury.

# c. Public policy favors limiting liability for mere negligent acts when the tortfeasors are not responsible for the injured party's economic expectations and not in a special relationship with the injured party.

Finally, the Contractors submit that this category of damages also may be barred as a matter of law by the economic loss doctrine, which this Court adopted in *Aguilar v. RP MRP Wash. Harbour, LLC*, 98 A.3d 979 (D.C. 2014). While not perfectly analogous, because the matter *sub judice* did involve some property damage allegedly suffered by Appellants, the rationale of *Aguilar* nonetheless should apply with full force under these facts.

Aguilar involved a negligence claim against the owners and managers of a waterfront retail complex by employees of various businesses within the complex after the adjacent Potomac River surged, causing "ten to twelve feet of water [to] flood the ground-level businesses." *Id.* The employees alleged that the defendants negligently failed to raise the flood walls during the surge, causing them to suffer lost wages as their businesses were forced to close for several weeks in some cases. *Id.* at 981.

The *Aguilar* Court explained that, "under the 'economic loss' rule, a plaintiff who suffers only a pecuniary injury as a result of the conduct of another cannot recover those losses in tort." *Id.* at 982 (quoting *Apollo Group, Inc. v. Avnet, Inc.*, 58 F.3d 477, 479 (9th Cir. 1995)). The test is not foreseeability of the harm, but whether public policy favors providing a remedy to everyone who is harmed versus enforcing a cut-off for tort liability which, if unchecked, would be virtually limitless.

See Aguilar, 98 A.3d 982-83. The rationale underlying the rule is that

a line must be drawn between the competing policy considerations of providing a remedy to everyone who is injured and of extending exposure to tort liability almost without limit, and a recognition that legal liability does not always extend to all of the foreseeable consequences of an accident. More importantly, as a matter of longstanding policy in courts around the country, where pure economic loss is at issue, not connected with any injury to one's body or property, the reach of legal liability is quite limited.

Id. at 983 (internal citations, brackets, and quotations omitted).

In ultimately affirming the trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss and holding that the employees could not make a purely economic damage claim against the owner of the commercial property, this Court emphasized the existence of "strong public policy considerations against imposing virtually infinite liability for conduct that is merely negligent." *Id.* at 983-86 (citations omitted).

Turning to the matter at hand, Appellants seemingly conjure their parking space damage valuation of \$15,000 out of thin air. In Schedule A to the Complaint, they state that the loss of width "now precludes most full size and larger passenger cars, SUVs, Minivan's [sic] and larger because of the reduced turning ratio." App. 44. Yet, as mentioned, they have no expert witness testimony or other evidence to support this figure. While the Mancusos' parking space damages are tangentially linked to property damage caused by the Collapse (*i.e.*, the Collapse necessitated reconstruction, which allegedly impacted their space), their unsupported valuation of \$15,000 based on an apparent inability to fit certain cars into the space presents as a purely economic loss, as it is not based on any evidence of actual cost of repair or loss of fair market value.<sup>8</sup> *See Wentworth, supra*, 336 A.2d at 543-44.

Appellants' parking space reduction damages therefore may properly be treated as purely economic damages. Based on the rationale in *Aguilar*, then, Appellants should address their parking space grievance with their apartment's property management, or with the entities that actually redesigned and reconstructed the garage. Just as in *Aguilar* where the employees who claimed lost wages were in a direct relationship with their employers, not with the commercial landowner who was leasing the commercial space to the employers, 98 A.3d at 985, the Mancusos are not in a special relationship with the Contractors that would make the Contractors responsible for the Mancusos' specific parking space. The Contractors' only connection to the Mancusos is that they were performing construction operations near the garage in which the Mancusos parked their car. Even if the Contractors are responsible for the Collapse, which they deny, this does not create a special

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In fact, in opposing this summary judgment motion, the Mancusos attempted to rebrand this category of damage as not property damage but instead a loss of use of the space, *i.e.*, an inability to park their vehicle. App. 35. The trial court rejected this re-categorization of the damages because it was pled in the Complaint as purely a loss in size of the space, not a loss of use of the space. App. 35.

relationship whereby the Contractors became responsible for every future action that occurs related to the Mancusos' parking space.

Indeed, Appellants' logic behind their parking' space reduction claim would lead to absurd results if allowed to proceed. For example, if the owner of the garage suffered a loss of income from the Collapse due to tenants vacating, resulting in a loss of garage revenue, and then decided to increase parking rates, Appellants could try to justify a claim against the Contractors to compensate them for this increase in monthly parking expenses because the Collapse set these events in motion. Extending this out further, office workers who had to evacuate adjacent buildings or commuters who missed time from work due to traffic jams caused by the Collapse could make a claim against the Contractors for loss of income.

This is exactly what the economic loss doctrine is intended to prevent. The law is not intended to compensate injuries that, even if foreseeable in some way, are attenuated from the initial event and disconnected by unrelated intervening acts, or that are not directly linked to property damage. Otherwise, the potential for liability would be virtually infinite, and persons and entities who cause property damage by simple negligence would be at the mercy of the imagination of inventive lawyers seeking to create new causes of action and theories of liability that have a tenuous factual basis but technically would be permitted if there is no limit to potential culpability for basic negligence. Simply put, Appellants' claim, if allowed to proceed, sets a dangerous precedent for construction contractors who could face virtually infinite liability from individuals and businesses who happen to be near construction sites, and it would fly in the face of the public policy favoring limitation of liability for merely negligent conduct.

For these reasons, Grunley and CVLC respectfully submit that this Honorable Court must affirm the trial court's ruling on their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the Mancusos' alleged damages relating to a reduction in the size of their parking space.

#### III. <u>The Superior Court did not issue a final Order on Appellees' Motions</u> <u>in Limine regarding DCRA Notices of Infractions, but even if it did,</u> <u>its decision should not be disturbed on appeal.</u>

After the Collapse, both Appellees Grunley and CVLC received Notices of Infractions from DCRA. App. 103-04, 107-08. The Contractors then denied the charges against them, and both were dismissed with prejudice prior to the scheduled hearing after all issues were settled. App. 107-08. During the subject lawsuit, the Contractors filed a joint motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of these Notices of Infraction. *See* Defendants' Opposed Consolidated Motions *in Limine*, filed June 24, 2020, pp. 5-8. The trial court addressed the motion regarding DCRA at a hearing, and indicated that such evidence would invade the province of the jury because it would present to the jury a final conclusion of a violation, without giving the jury the full context, and thus risk jury confusion. App. 149-53, 157-58. However, the trial court never issued a final ruling regarding this motion *in limine*.

As the Contractors set forth above, the Superior Court was correct as a matter of law on its rulings on the dispositive motions and in entering judgment in the Contractors' favor. Any issue presented by the Mancusos regarding a motion *in limine* therefore is moot, because this matter should not be remanded for a trial, and judgment for the Contractors should be affirmed.

To the extent this Court is inclined to reverse the trial court on the summary judgment motions, and determines the trial court did make a final ruling on the DCRA motion *in limine*, the Contractors note that rulings on evidentiary issues are reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion. *Stone*, *supra*, 6 A.3d at 851. The Mancusos, however, only attempt to rehash the legal arguments purportedly supporting their position rather than argue the trial court actually abused its discretion. *See* App'nts Brief pp. 21-24. Indeed, the Mancusos' Standard of Review section does not contain any reference to an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.* at p. 6. Since Appellants make no demonstration of – and indeed make no attempt at a demonstration of – an abuse of discretion, their argument should be rejected outright.

Next, if the trial court did rule on the motion *in limine* in Appellees' favor, the trial court was correct on the law and certainly did not abuse its discretion. *See Duk Hea Oh v. Nat'l Capital Revitalization Corp.*, 7 A.3d 997, 1010-11 (D.C. 2010)

(discussing a trial court's large discretion to exclude evidence that is unfairly prejudicial or involves confusion of the issues). However, the Contractors will not dedicate time or space in this brief to re-argue the legal principles supporting the exclusion of this evidence. This is because Appellants' argument on this issue can be rejected for a simpler reason: the appeal of a motion *in limine* prior to trial is premature.

This Court has stated that: "Rulings on motions *in limine* normally are considered provisional, in the sense that the trial court may revisit its pre-trial evidentiary rulings." *Jung v. George Wash. Univ.*, 875 A.2d 95, 102-03 (D.C. 2005). Importantly, this Court, when finding support for treating motions *in limine* as interlocutory orders in courts across the country, specifically cited to *State v. Cole*, 71 S.W.3d 163, 175 (Mo. 2002) (en banc), where the Supreme Court of Missouri held that a ruling *in limine* is interlocutory, subject to change during trial, and thus requires an attempt to present the evidence in question to preserve the issue for appeal.

Since a trial never occurred in this matter due to the summary judgment orders in Appellees favor, the Mancusos never attempted to present the DCRA evidence at trial. This issue therefore is not ripe for appeal. As recognized in *Jung* and the cases it cites, the trial court, even if it grants or denies a motion *in limine* prior to trial, is welcome to reconsider its ruling and indeed may be "bound to consider the issue anew in light of the evidence presented at trial." 875 A.2d at 105; *see also* D.C. Code § 11-721 (stating that the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over final orders and judgments, as well as listing several exceptions for certain interlocutory orders of the Superior Court, none of which apply here); D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(b) (stating that any order or decision that does not adjudicate all of the claims in the case does not end the case and may be revised at any time before the entry of a final judgment). The Mancusos' appeal of a discrete evidentiary issue presented in a motion *in limine* is therefore premature, at best.

For a related reason, even assuming *arguendo* the trial court abused its discretion by ruling in Appellees' favor on this issue, there was no prejudice to the Mancusos from the trial court's grant of the motion *in limine*, because the case never went before a jury. Appellants were not deprived of a fair trial because there was no trial. If and until there is a trial and the trial court actually – and with finality – excludes this evidence, this issue should not be before an appellate court.

For these reasons, Appellees Grunley and CVLC respectfully submit that the subject motion *in limine* is not ripe for appeal, but even if it were ripe and the trial court did make a ruling, this Honorable Court must not disturb that ruling.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the summary judgment rulings of the Superior Court in favor of the Defendants/Appellees Grunley Construction Company, Inc.

39

and Chapel Valley Landscape Company must be affirmed, and the trial court's handling of the motion *in limine*, to the extent it was a final ruling, must not be disturbed because it is moot if the summary judgment rulings are affirmed, and, in any event, it is not ripe for appeal.

FERGUSON, SCHETELICH & BALLEW, P.A. BUDOW & NOBLE, P.C.